**RECEIVED**

**Nov 15 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
General Sessions Court  
DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2017-GS-40-07158  
Case No. 2017-GS-40-07162  
Case No. 2017-GS-40-07165  
Case No. 2017-GS-40-07166  
Appellate Case No. 2019-001981

---

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Charles Barham,

Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Jack B. Swerling  
1720 Main Street, Suite 301  
Columbia, South Carolina 29201  
Telephone: 803-765-2626  
South Carolina Bar No. 5457

Katherine Carruth Goode  
229 South Congress Street  
Post Office Box 1175

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in admitting testimony that Charles Kusko said appellant stole his tools?
2. Did the trial court err in admitting testimony concerning appellant's alleged participation in a prior burglary?
3. Was the cumulative effect of the trial court's errors, in combination, so prejudicial as to deny appellant a fair trial?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Charles Brandon Barham, was indicted by the Richland County grand jury on charges of murder, first-degree burglary, common-law conspiracy, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. pp. 1-8. He was tried before a jury on August 26-30, 2019, in the Richland County General Sessions Court, with Judge DeAndrea G. Benjamin presiding. R. p. 13. The jury returned a verdict of guilty with respect to all four charges. R. pp. 1002-03. At a sentencing hearing held November 18, 2019, Judge Benjamin sentenced appellant to concurrent terms of 40 years for the murder and burglary convictions and five years for the conspiracy and weapon convictions. R. pp. 9-12, 1169.

Following the trial, the defense moved for a new trial based on alleged error committed by the court in the admission of certain evidence. R. pp. 1128-30. The state filed a written response to this motion. R. pp. 1131-34. The court heard and denied this motion on October 14, 2019. R. pp. 1135-46. The defense also moved for reconsideration of the court's sentence. R. pp. 1171-72. The court denied this motion by order dated May 26, 2020. R. p. 1173.

## ARGUMENT

These charges arose from the shooting death of Charles Kusko in his home on the night of September 5-6, 2015, by Floyd Owen. Owen and Charles<sup>1</sup> were former lovers who had briefly lived together and who had remained friends after breaking up. R. pp. 512-14. They partied and did drugs together. R. pp. 512, 514, 516. In the early hours of September 6, the Sunday of Labor Day weekend, Owen broke into Charles's residence at 1710 Budon Court, Columbia, South Carolina. R. pp. 545-46. Owen went to Charles's bedroom and shot him twice in the head while he was sleeping. R. pp. 144-45, 548-49, 569. Owen admitted he committed these offenses. R. pp. 545-56, 548-49, 569. Charles's murder was discovered on Tuesday, September 8, after James Jones went to Charles's home to check on him. R. pp. 50-51. Jones observed a broken window and smelled an odor, and he called 911 because things did not seem right. R. pp. 51-52, 64. Law enforcement officers arrived, entered the house, and found Charles's body. R. p. 74.

Owen admitted he had a motive. Charles was threatening to report Owen to the Department of Social Services, thereby jeopardizing Owen's contact with his children. R. pp. 223-24, 584-85. Owen was interviewed by Columbia police investigators the day after the body was found, September 9, and he lied and denied he had committed the crimes. R. pp. 563, 579-80, 589-90. He was questioned by the police again in 2017 after he was arrested for an unrelated armed robbery and gun charge, and he continued to lie to them and deny committing these crimes. R. pp. 564, 581-82, 588-89. He finally admitted the

---

<sup>1</sup> Charles Kusko and other members of his family are referred to in this brief by their first rather than last names, for clarity as to the identities of the various individuals involved in the events that were the subject of the trial testimony.

break-in and murder in his third statement to the police, but even then he gave an account that was not consistent with his trial testimony. R. pp. 590-94, 596-97.

Owen claimed appellant provided the gun he used and drove Owen to Charles's home for the purpose of killing him, waited nearby as lookout while Owen went in, and drove Owen away after the shooting was over. R. pp. 534-51, 557. Appellant denied any involvement in the events at Budon Court that night. R. pp. 865-66.

A week before this trial, Owen pleaded guilty to murder, burglary, conspiracy, and possession of a firearm in connection with the break-in of the residence and the murder of Charles, but he had not yet been sentenced. He was facing varying amounts of prison time for the offenses, including a potential life sentence. R. pp. 570-75. He was also facing additional time for the unrelated armed robbery and firearm charges. R. pp. 576-77. He had not been sentenced on these charges following his plea, pending his testifying in this trial against appellant, and he was hoping for more favorable treatment based on his cooperation and testimony against appellant in this trial. R. pp. 577-79.

The defense suggested Owen implicated appellant to protect his girlfriend, Jessica James. That contention was supported by evidence that the police had begun questioning her in 2017 and had threatened her with incarceration. R. p. 639. When Owen ultimately gave a statement to police in 2017 confessing to the murder and implicating appellant as well, he repeatedly asked law enforcement to keep James out of it. R. pp. 587-89.

The defense also suggested that Charles's brother, Andrew Kusko, fabricated information against appellant to divert attention from himself. Charles and Andrew were brothers of appellant's mother, Karin Jean Barham. R. pp. 244, 834. Karin was disabled and required caregivers, having been in an accident some years earlier that left her with

traumatic brain injury. R. pp. 246-47, 835. Over the years, various family members served as her caregiver and handled her affairs through successive powers of attorney. R. pp. 55, 246-47, 835-38. At the time of these events, Charles was the person handling Karin's finances. R. pp. 55, 247, 252, 837. Karin's brother Andrew believed Charles was misusing or stealing Karin's personal property and funds. R. pp. 171-72, 252, 325, 343-45. He believed Charles had misused or stolen from her property and funds worth \$38,000 to \$39,000. R. pp. 252, 325. In the months ahead of Charles's murder, Owen told Andrew Charles was selling and throwing away Karin's things. R. pp. 517-18. Owen's doing so led to an ongoing dispute between Owen and Charles in July and August 2015, prior to Owen's murder of Charles on September 6, 2015. R. pp. 517-19.

Charles and Andrew had a history of angry disputes and an "up and down relationship." R. pp. 170-73, 245, 248, 280, 310-11. Andrew admitted having made statements that others would characterize as threats against Charles, including that he would choke him. R. p. 311. On the Friday of Labor Day weekend, September 4, an incident occurred between Charles and Andrew at Charles's residence. R. pp. 57-59, 170-71. Andrew had gone there because of what Owen had told him Charles was doing with their sister's belongings. R. pp. 248-49. Charles told Jones what had occurred on Friday, September 4, including that he and Andrew had been fighting. R. p. 59. Charles was agitated, upset, and physically afraid of Andrew. R. pp. 59, 83, 170-71. Charles called the police, and the police arrived and placed Andrew under a no-trespass notice. R. pp. 59, 249-50, 326. When Charles's body was found the next Tuesday, September 8, Jones told law enforcement Charles had said he was afraid for his life because he and Andrew were in a dispute over property. R. pp. 60, 83.

On Tuesday, September 8, Andrew picked up his sister and took her to the Columbia Police Department to make a report about what Charles had been doing with her property. R. pp. 227, 251-52, 343-45. While the lead investigator was at the Budon Court address following the discovery of Charles's body, he received a call and learned Andrew was at the police department making a report against his brother Charles. R. p. 227.

The defense contended it was Andrew, not appellant, who put Owen up to murdering Charles and supplied the gun for that purpose. That contention was supported by Owen's girlfriend's statement to police that Owen told her "Midget" supplied the gun. R. pp. 641-42. Midget was Andrew's nickname. R. pp. 314-15, 704-06.

The exact time of Charles's death was not pinpointed with certainty, but the pathologist who conducted the autopsy acknowledged it could have occurred within a 12-hour window on the night of September 5-6 through the morning of September 6. R. pp. 149, 154-55. He believed the level of decomposition was consistent with death in the early morning hours of September 6, or could have been within a period of hours before or after the early morning hours. R. pp. 148-49, 154-56.

In its efforts to link appellant to Owen's crimes that night, the state offered into evidence a video from the security camera system of a business near the Budon Court neighborhood. That video showed a truck similar to appellant's white Chevy pickup truck in the area at approximately 5:04 and 5:10 a.m. on September 6. R. pp. 216-18, 233; State's Exhibits 132, 133. The state suggested this truck may have been appellant's, in keeping with Owen's claim that appellant drove him to the Budon Court residence for the purpose of having Owen enter and kill Charles. R. pp. 216-18. However, the occupant or occupants of the vehicle in the video were not discernible, and the presence of this truck in the video,

if it was appellant's truck, was consistent with Owen's having taken it while appellant was asleep and driven himself to Charles's residence to commit these crimes. R. pp. 234-35, 852.

Another vehicle appearing in the video at approximately 4:53 a.m. was similar in appearance to a Chevy Blazer, the make of vehicle then driven by Andrew. R. pp. 232, 235-36, 267; Defendant's Exhibit 1. Despite the similarity of that vehicle to Andrew's, the known conflicts between Andrew and Charles, the altercation between the brothers to which police were called just two days prior to the murder, and information the gun came from "Midget," who was Andrew, the investigating officers never considered that the vehicle seen on the video might be Andrew's. R. pp. 235-37, 326, 704-11.

The state also introduced evidence attempting to show the whereabouts of various individuals near the time of the murder, through analysis of their cell phone records during the time period of the murder and the particular cell towers that handled their cell phone communications. The information obtained from appellant's cell phone usage did not place him in the vicinity of Budon Court during the window of time in which the murder could have been committed. R. pp. 177-78, 182, 185, 402. However, the information the state offered that purported to pertain to Andrew was useless, because Andrew had given the police his wife's cell phone number, not his own, and law enforcement officials had not obtained cell phone records for Andrew's actual number. R. pp. 183-84, 186-87, 713-17, 770-71.

Charles was a friend of Columbia lawyer Neal Lourie. R. pp. 158-59. Lourie owned the 1710 Budon Court residence where Charles was living and employed Charles as a handyman. R. pp. 56, 159, 164-65. Appellant at times worked with Charles on the

projects he did for Lourie. R. pp. 160, 841-43. Lourie testified appellant came to him a week or two before Labor Day and said Charles had not paid him for work he had done for Lourie. R. pp. 161-62. On the Friday before Labor Day, Lourie asked Charles about it, and Charles said appellant had been paid. R. pp. 161-62. Lourie testified appellant called him again the day after Labor Day, and Lourie told him what Charles had said. R. pp. 161-62. Appellant testified Charles owed him \$1,900 for work he had performed. R. pp. 841-43. Lourie recalled the amount to be about \$2,000, consistent with appellant's testimony. R. p. 168. As appellant noted, he expected to be paid for the work and would not have killed Charles over the delayed payment, since his doing so would have resulted in his never being paid. R. p. 843.

Andrew and Owen imputed to appellant a much greater monetary motive, an amount of \$5,000 they claimed appellant said Charles owed him. R. pp. 264, 327, 336, 586. However, that amount was contradicted by Lourie's testimony, which corroborated appellant's assertion he was owed only \$1,900. R. pp. 168, 841-42. Owen also claimed appellant was upset about Charles's treatment of his mother and her missing money. R. pp. 532, 585. To the contrary, the evidence established it was Andrew, not appellant, who was upset and angry with Charles. R. pp. 251-52, 838-39. Andrew believed Charles had stolen or misused as much as \$38,000 to \$39,000 of Karin's assets, going so far as to initiate police action against him. R. pp. 227, 251-52, 325.

The state contended Charles's non-payment for appellant's work was appellant's motive for his alleged involvement in the crimes. However, Lourie testified about appellant's demeanor when discussing being paid for his work. Appellant was not belligerent or upset and was not causing a scene. R. pp. 167, 169. There were no threats

between Charles and appellant and no allegations of any physical violence between them. R. p. 169. On the other hand, Lourie was aware of the disputes between Charles and Andrew and knew that Charles was agitated, upset, and afraid of Andrew. R. pp. 170-71. But Charles never expressed to Lourie that he was afraid of appellant. R. p. 170. Jones, who was also an employee of Lourie, knew of Charles's dispute with Andrew, that they had been fighting and Charles was upset, and that Charles feared for his life. R. pp. 59-60, 83.

Some time after his initial statement to the police on Tuesday, September 8, Andrew gave the police information about a gun he claimed to have seen in appellant's possession prior to Labor Day weekend. R. pp. 256, 322-23. The bullets that killed Charles were .45 caliber bullets. R. pp. 121, 123. They could have been fired from multiple kinds of firearms, including but not limited to revolvers, some lever action rifles, carbines, and short barrel rifles. R. pp. 122-23. Andrew claimed he had seen a gun appellant had in his truck the Sunday before, and he thought it was a .40 caliber. R. pp. 260-61, 316, 357. The bullet he examined that came from that gun was cut off at the tip and had a hole in the top. R. pp. 262, 316. However, the bullets that killed Charles and were found in his bed linens were semi-wadcutter, not hollow point. R. pp. 123-24. Andrew claimed he later asked appellant about the gun, and appellant said he no longer had it and had thrown it in a lake. R. pp. 276-77, 336. Contrary to Andrew's implication that appellant supplied the gun for this murder and then disposed of it, the confessed murderer, Owen, testified he personally threw the gun he used to kill Charles into a field or woods after leaving the scene but before returning home. R. pp. 552-54, 597.

Jessica James, Owen's girlfriend who was being questioned by the police in her own right and had been threatened with incarceration before she gave any information, testified Owen had confessed the killing to her and implicated appellant as providing the gun and serving as lookout. R. pp. 631, 633-34, 639. Her trial testimony was contrary to her earlier statement to the police, in which she stated Owen said appellant was merely with him. R. p. 641. James also was inconsistent as to where Owen said he got the gun, initially insisting to the police it came from "Midget," who was Andrew. R. pp. 314-15, 641-42, 704-06. She acknowledged the state had subpoenaed her father for the purpose of having him influence her to testify. R. p. 638.

Jenny Baker, who was serving a 20-year federal sentence for serious drug charges, was an admitted meth addict and drug trafficker, and was by Owen's account a liar, also testified. R. pp. 448, 476-77, 484-85, 497, 583. She claimed appellant told her his uncle was a bad guy and deserved to be killed. R. pp. 472-73. She did not tell the police about this alleged conversation until after she was jailed over eight months later, in 2016, or over a year later, in 2017. R. pp. 476, 478-79. She gave the statement to keep herself out of trouble and help herself with her own charges. R. pp. 477, 496. She acknowledged she was hoping for a downward departure on her federal sentence as a result of her testimony. R. pp. 487-89.

Appellant testified in his defense. He denied any involvement in the crimes at the Budon Court address. R. pp. 865-66. He denied he was present or participated in any way. R. pp. 854-57, 865-66. He did not own a firearm at the time of these crimes. R. p. 861. He and Owen had been at Jenny Baker's the night before Owen killed Charles, and they had been drinking. R. pp. 850-51. Appellant did not think he had used cocaine but

acknowledged he may have told the police he had. R. pp. 872-73. He and Owen both denied they used meth, contradicting the testimony of Baker that they had. R. pp. 460-61, 497, 524, 872. He and Owen had left Baker's house in the early hours of September 6 and returned to Owen's house, where appellant went to sleep. R. p. 850. When appellant woke the next morning, Owen was already up and outside. R. p. 853. Appellant's truck had been there when appellant went to sleep, and he had set his keys down on the counter or floor with the other items from his pocket. R. pp. 851-52. Owen could have taken appellant's truck to Charles's residence and committed the crimes while appellant was sleeping. Owen had on multiple occasions in the past taken appellant's truck without his permission. R. pp. 858. On two of those occasions, appellant had filed police reports with respect to Owen's having taken his truck, a fact corroborated by the case investigator. R. pp. 726, 858. No DNA evidence or other forensic evidence placed appellant at the scene or implicated him in any way in the break-in and murder. R. pp. 137, 240-41.

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING TESTIMONY THAT CHARLES SAID APPELLANT STOLE HIS TOOLS.

The state called Laurin Barnes, Charles's daughter, to testify about a conversation she had with her father a few months before his death, in which he told her appellant stole his tools. The defense objected to the testimony, but the court allowed it, finding it was within the state of mind exception for hearsay of Rule 803(3) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence and that its prejudicial effect did not outweigh its probative value. R. pp. 617-28. Laurin testified that several months before his death, her father told her appellant stole his tools and that he was mad at appellant. R. pp. 778-79. This testimony was both inadmissible and prejudicial.

Hearsay is defined as a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying, offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted. *See* Rule 801(c), SCRE. Hearsay is inadmissible, unless it is within one of the exceptions recognized by the evidence rules. *See* Rule 802, SCRE. Rule 803(3), commonly called the state-of-mind exception, allows admission of “[a] statement of the declarant’s then existing state of mind, emotion, sensation, or physical condition . . . , but not including a statement of memory or belief to prove the fact remembered or believed . . . .” *See* Rule 803(3), SCRE.

The decisions of our appellate courts construing this rule have been clear with respect to its limits. The statement of the declarant’s state of mind or emotion is admissible, but the reason for that state of mind or emotion is not. *See State v. Tennant*, 394 S.C. 5, 15-16, 714 S.E.2d 297, 302-03 (2011), *State v. Garcia*, 334 S.C. 71, 76, 512 S.E.2d 507, 509 (1999); *State v. Daise*, 421 S.C. 442, 460, 807 S.E.2d 710, 719 (Ct.App. 2017); *State v. Hughes*, 419 S.C. 149, 155-56, 796 S.E.2d 174, 177-78 (Ct.App. 2017); *Vail v. State*, 402 S.C. 77, 87, 738 S.E.2d 503, 508-09 (Ct.App. 2013). The *Garcia* Court explained the restriction in Rule 803(3) with respect to a statement of memory or belief to prove the fact remembered or believed, stating,

The purpose of this exclusion is “to avoid the virtual destruction of the hearsay rule which would otherwise result from allowing state of mind, provable by a hearsay statement, to serve as a basis for an inference of the happening of the event which produced the state of mind.” Consequently, while the present state of the declarant’s mind is admissible as an exception to hearsay, the reason for the declarant’s state of mind is not.

*See Garcia*, 334 S.C. at 76, 512 S.E.2d at 509 (footnote and citations omitted). *Garcia* noted an example from the case it cited: “If the reservation in the text of the rule is to have any effect, it must be understood to narrowly limit those admissible statements to declarations of condition – ‘I’m scared’ – and not belief – ‘I’m scared because [someone]

threatened me’.” *See id.* (citation omitted). Under Rule 803(3), the *Garcia* decision, and *Garcia*’s progeny, Charles’s statement to his daughter of his state of mind or emotion – that he was mad at appellant – was admissible. His further statement of the reason for that state of mind or emotion – his belief that appellant stole his tools – was not. The court erred in finding the statement was admissible under the state-of-mind exception.

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