**RECEIVED**

**Nov 15 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

**Appeal from Richland County  
The Honorable DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge**

---

**THE STATE,**

**Respondent,**

**v.**

**CHARLES BRANDON BARHAM,**

**Appellant**

**Appellate Case No. 2019-001981**

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

J. ANTHONY MABRY  
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Office of the Attorney General  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina, 29211  
(803) 734-6305

BYRON E. GIPSON, Solicitor

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

### ARGUMENT I.

**This issue is not preserved for appellate review with a timely objection to the testimony when offered before the jury and was waived by Barham's introducing similar testimony; and, if preserved, Judge Benjamin did not abuse her discretion in admitting this testimony because it was not offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted or a prior bad act, but to establish an ongoing and long running dispute between the parties, i.e. Victim would not pay Barham money owed for work performed, the *res gestae* of the crime and part of the motive for Victim's murder; and prior difficulties between the parties, to show malice, animus, and origin of the dispute; and even if hearsay, it fell under recognized hearsay exceptions; regardless, its' admission was harmless beyond any doubt on this record.**

#### *Standard of Review*

The admission of exclusion of evidence is within the sound discretion of a trial judge, and an appellate court may disturb a ruling admitting or excluding evidence only upon a showing of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice. State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 632 S.E.2d 845 (2006); State v. Dennis, 402 S.C. 627, 742 S.E.2d 21 (Ct. App. 2013).

#### *What Occurred Below*

During a break in the trial, *in camera*, Barham requested argument or proffer on the admissibility of the testimony of Victim's daughter Laurin Huffstetler Barnes ("Laurin"). (R. 612-16). Prior to its admission before the jury, the State proffered Laurin's testimony so Judge Benjamin could properly consider and rule on the issue. (R. 615-20). Laurin was asked if she was aware of any disputes between Victim and Barham. She said she was. She testified she had lunch with Victim a few months before his death, in June, at which time Victim was upset, angry, and agitated yelling out loudly in the restaurant Barham had stolen his tools and Barham was going to bring the tools back, and Victim was not going to pay Barham until Barham

returned his tools. Victim was so angry and agitated other customers were looking at them and thought Victim was angry at Laurin. Laurin had to calm her father down. (R. 617-21).

Judge Benjamin heard argument *in camera* regarding the admission of Laurin's testimony. Barham argued the evidence was inadmissible evidence of prior bad acts [the theft of the tools] pursuant to Rule 404(b), SCRE.<sup>18</sup> Specifically, he argued the evidence was irrelevant in proving motive to commit the murder because Victim stated Barham stole Victim's tools not that Victim stole Barham's tools, which would have given Barham a motive to kill Victim. However, the State pointed out it was not offering the evidence pursuant to Rule 404(b) to prove Barham stole Victim's tools but as further evidence and corroboration of the ongoing dispute, which proved malice and was part of the motive for Victim's death, i.e. Victim did in fact owe Barham money for work performed and Victim was refusing to pay Barham and this led to Victim's death. The State pointed out this evidence was connected with, and corroborated evidence already admitted through other witnesses, about the dispute over money owed Barham by Victim and Victim's refusal to pay. Those witnesses were Andrew, Lourie, and Owen. Owen testified part of the motive for the murder was Victim's refusal to pay Barham for work performed. The 2 men discussed this before leaving Owen's home to murder Victim. The State also argued even if it was 404(b) evidence, Rule 404(b) allows such evidence to prove motive. (R. 620-28).

Barham also objected to the admission of the statement *Barham stole my tools* based on hearsay. The State responded the evidence was not hearsay because it was admissible under recognized exceptions of a statement of a then existing mental, emotional, or physical condition, under Rule 803(3), SCRE **and** as an admission against pecuniary interest, Rule 804(3), i.e.

---

<sup>18</sup> Even though given the opportunity *in camera*, between the proffer and the witness testifying, and when the witness testified, Barham never argued the State failed to prove the prior bad act by clear and convincing evidence, an argument raised in his brief. (R. 612-28; 628-776; 776-84).

Victim admitted he in fact did owe a debt to Barham that he was refusing to pay. (R. 621-28). Finally, Barham objected to admission of the evidence based on Rule 403, SCRE.<sup>19</sup>

After hearing argument of both sides, Judge Benjamin ruled that the evidence was prior bad act evidence but admissible under Rule 404(b), SCRE, because the evidence was being offered **not as propensity evidence** but to **show motive** as the State contended, which is one of the permitted exceptions under Rule 404(b), SCRE, and case law, and it was relevant because similar evidence of the dispute and debt owed by Victim to Barham and Victim's refusal to pay had been offered through other witnesses during trial. She found this evidence corroborated and confirmed those other witnesses that Victim did in fact owe Barham several thousand dollars and was refusing to pay, but this evidence came directly from Victim's mouth and Victim admitted the same. As to Barham's 2<sup>nd</sup> objection, while Judge Benjamin did not admit the testimony pursuant to Rule 804(b)(3), SCRE, a statement against pecuniary interest, Judge Benjamin found the evidence was admissible under the recognized hearsay exception of a statement of a then existing physical, emotional, or mental condition, to prove state of mind, Rule 803(3), SCRE, because it proved Victim's intent, plan, motive, design, mental feeling, pain, and bodily health as allowed by that Rule. Judge Benjamin also found the testimony was admissible under Rule 403, SCRE, because its probative value was not substantially outweighed by its' prejudicial effect because the evidence established the prior dispute between Victim and Barham, motive in the case; and, it was tied to other evidence in the case about the dispute; i.e. Victim owed Barham

---

<sup>19</sup> It must be remembered, at this point, the witnesses who had testified to this dispute testified Barham was claiming to them the money was owed to him and Victim would not pay, but Victim had denied to Lourie he owed Barham anything and claimed he had paid Barham for his work. (R. 158-73; 243-360; 511-611). Laurin's testimony proved Victim did in fact owe Barham money and was consciously refusing to pay him and lied to Lourie about the same, on September 4<sup>th</sup>, which would have further infuriated Barham. (R. 617-21).

money and he was refusing to pay, and more importantly this evidence was from Victim's own mouth and supported and corroborated the earlier testimony throughout the case of a debt owed Barham for work performed that Victim was refusing to pay. (R. 621-28).

*After the Court's ruling*

Laurin was not called as a witness after the *in camera* hearing. Several other witnesses testified during the trial. (R. 628-776). Laurin then testified before the jury. She was asked if she was aware of any problems between her father and Barham prior to her father's death and what she knew about any dispute. She testified to her father's excited and agitated state at the restaurant in June and he blurted or yelled out: "Brandon stole my tools and he's going to bring my tools back. I'm not paying him until he brings me my tools." (R. 776-84). Barham did not object to the admission of any of her testimony when it was introduced before the jury. (R. 778-79). Barham also questioned Laurin about the theft of tools and brought out Victim later told Laurin's mother the same thing, i.e. Barham had stolen his tools, Victim wanted them back, and Victim wasn't going to pay Barham until he returned the tools. (R. 780-81). In its closing argument, the State only argued this testimony for the reason it was offered. It corroborated other witnesses there was a dispute between Victim and Barham over Victim's refusal to pay Barham for work done, that continued for several months, and led up to Victim's death, and was part of the motive and malice for the murder as testified to by Owen. (R. 918-33; 953-64)).

*Lack of Preservation or Waiver of the Issue*

Barham raised his objections *in limine* and they were ruled on *in limine*. (R. 615-28). This issue is not preserved for appeal because several witnesses testified after the *in limine* motion and *in camera* hearing. (R. 628-776). In fact, there were almost 200 pages of trial transcript before Laurin testified before the jury. Thereafter, when she testified, there was no

objection to any of her testimony. (R. 776-84). In fact, **Barham brought out** on cross-examination Victim had told Laurin’s mother the same thing he told her: Barham stole his tools, Victim wanted them back, and he wasn’t going to pay Barham the money he owed him until Barham returned the tools. (R. 780-81). This issue is not preserved for appellate review *or* was waived based on the failure to make a timely objection when the witness testified before the jury after over 150 pages of trial transcript *and* testimony by other witnesses (R. 628-776; 776-84) **and** by Barham eliciting similar testimony from the same witness. (R. 780-81). State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 352-53, 737 S.E.2d 490, 496-97 (2013); State v. Wiles, 383 S.C. 151, 156-57, 679 S.E.2d 172, 175 (2009)(“Generally, a motion *in limine* is not a final determination; a contemporaneous objection must be made when the evidence is introduced”); State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 642, 541 S.E.2d. 837, 840 (2001)(“There is an exception to this general rule when a ruling on a motion *in limine* is made immediately prior to the introduction of the evidence in question.”); Wiles, 383 S.C. at 156-157, 679 S.E.2d at 175 (“This exception is based on the fact when the trial court’s ruling is not preliminary, but instead is clearly a final ruling, there is no need to renew the objection.”); State v. Mueller, 319 S.C. 266, 268-69, 460 S.E.2d 409, 410-411 (1995)(noting where there is no evidence between the motion and the testimony, there is no basis for the trial court to change its ruling, so the decision is a final one).<sup>20</sup>

Further, Barham argues in his brief the State did not prove the prior bad act by clear and convincing evidence. This argument is not preserved for appellate review; it was not made below

---

<sup>20</sup> Respondent also submits this issue was waived or is not preserved because Barham did not exhaust his remedies below. After the court ruled *in limine*, Barham never requested a curative instruction be given the jury regarding the admission of this evidence and how it should be considered. (R. 617-28; (Supp. ROA pgs. 22-24); 964-988; 894-918). The Court would not have been required to give the instruction because of the reason the evidence was offered, but it *may have* if requested. Barham never asked. This issue is not preserved or was waived. *See* Rule 105, SCRE.

in the *in camera* hearing, after the *in camera* hearing, or when the witness testified. (R. 612-28; 628-776; 776-84). State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003) ("A party need not use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve it, but it must be clear that the argument has been presented on that ground"); State v. Patterson 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997)("Appellant is limited to the grounds raised at trial").<sup>21</sup>

Finally, Barham only argues on appeal Victim's statement to his daughter "*Brandon stole my tools*" is inadmissible. (BOA, pp. 2-14). He does not argue the remainder of Victim's statement to his daughter was not admissible: i.e. "He's [Brandon's] going to bring me my tools back" "I'm not paying him until he brings me my tools." (R. 778-79) (See BOA, pp. 2-14). Any issue with regard to these statements is not preserved and is waived and abandoned. Rule 208(b)(1)(d), SCACR; Jinks v. Richland County, 355 S.C. 341, 585 S.E.2d 281, 282, n. 3 (2003); First Savings Bank v. Mclean, 314 S.C. 361, 444 S.E.2d 513 (1994)(issues not argued in the brief are deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal). Judge Benjamin's ruling admitting this portion of Victim's statement is also the law of the case.

### ***The Lack of Merit of the Issue Raised on Appeal***

Regardless of the basis which Judge Benjamin relied upon in admitting the evidence, it was admissible over Barham's hearsay, 404(b), and 403 objections. Barham now argues only the statement *Brandon stole my tools* was hearsay and prior bad act evidence. (IBOR, pp. 2-12).

---

<sup>21</sup> If Barham had raised this argument to exclude the evidence below, perhaps Judge Benjamin would have ruled differently under Rule 404(b); but, he never gave Judge Benjamin this opportunity. (R. 612-28; 628-776; 776-84). *But see* State v. Bell, 430 S.C. 449, 845 S.E.2d 514 (Ct. App. 2020)(addressing clear and convincing evidence though never raised below). This case is distinguishable because Barham had the opportunity to raise this objection 3 times, including *in camera* and never did. (R. 612-28; 628-776; 776-84).

However, nowhere in his brief does Barham give this Court the entirety of Victim's statement to Laurin or the context in which it was made, which is why it was admissible. (IBOR, pp. 2-14).

*The statement was not hearsay*

Barham argues the testimony *Brandon stole my tools* should not have been admitted because it was hearsay. Barham is wrong. Hearsay is an out of court statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at trial, **offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted in the statement.** Rule 801(c), SCRE. The definition of hearsay as stated in Rule 801(c) is consistent with prior South Carolina law, i.e., hearsay is an out of court statement which is offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted. State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 629 S.E.2d 363 (2006). The rule against hearsay prohibits admission of evidence of an out of court statement to prove the truth of the matter asserted in the statement unless an exception to the rule applies. Rule 802, SCRE; Price, 368 S.C. 494, 629 S.E.2d 363.

Here, as the record shows, the State did not offer Victim's statement to Laurin **to prove Barham stole Victim's tools, or when Barham returned the tools, Victim would pay him.** The statement was offered to prove the ongoing dispute between Victim and Barham, i.e. Victim had not paid Barham \$2,000-\$6,000 owed him and Victim was refusing to pay, which was consistent with the texts from May and July of 2015, and what Barham told Andrew, Lourie, and Owen, and which was contrary to what *Victim* told Lourie, and contrary to what **Barham** told police, and established malice and part of the motive for Victim's murder as testified to by the trigger-man Owen, i.e. Victim refused to pay Barham money he had earned and Victim stole \$38,000 from Barham's mother and sold her furniture. State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 247 S.E.2d 334 (1978)(statement implicating defendant in alleged prior crimes, which was not offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted, that is, that defendant in fact committed the prior

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